## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

AMERACE CORPORATION,	:
a Delaware corporation,	:
	:
Petitioner,	:
	:
V.	: CASE NO. SC00-565
	:
GARY E. STALLINGS and	:
VERA J. STALLINGS, his wif	2, :
	:
Respondents.	:
	:

## ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\_\_\_\_\_

Frank H. Gassler, Esquire Florida Bar No. 218677 Hala A. Sandridge, Esquire Florida Bar No. 454362 Charles Tyler Cone, Esquire Florida Bar No. 0145165 FOWLER, WHITE, GILLEN, BOGGS, VILLAREAL AND BANKER, P.A. Post Office Box 1438 Tampa, Florida 33601

(813) 228-7411
(813) 229-8313 (Facsimile)

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This appeal stems from a jury verdict against Petitioner, Amerace Corporation, and in favor of Respondents, Gary E. Stallings and Vera J. Stallings.<sup>1</sup> Accordingly, all statements of fact in this brief are undisputed, or if disputed, presented in the light most favorable to the Stallings.

Amerace manufactures electrical terminators -- devices used to connect overhead power lines to underground lines -- used primarily by electric utility companies, including TECO. (V10:1988)<sup>2</sup> On September 25, 1992, a TECO crew led by Gary Stallings transferred three phase power lines and other devices, including Amerace terminators, from an old pole to a new pole. (V13:T190) Following the transfer of the "A" Phase, the terminator separated. (V10:1988) Because power was still flowing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Petitioner, Amerace Corporation -- which does business under the trade name Elastimold -- was the appellant/crossappellee in the Second District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to in this brief as "Amerace." Respondents, Gary E. Stallings and Vera J. Stallings, were the appellees/crossappellants in the Second District, and will be referred to collectively as "the Stallings" and individually by name. Gary Stallings' employer, Tampa Electric Company, will be referred to as "TECO." All other individuals and entities will be referred to by name.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Citations to the record on appeal, including the trial transcript (whose page numbers are preceded by a "T"), are indicated by a "V," followed by the volume and page number of the record to which each citation refers.

to the terminator, the separation caused an electrical arc, which in turn injured Stallings. (V10:1988)

On August 17, 1994, the Stallings sued Amerace. (V1:1-6) The Stallings exclusively pursued a theory of strict liability. (V7:1465) The Stallings' theory alleged that the terminator was defectively designed because it:

> was not completely covered, permitting its exposed metal to corrode and making it more likely to disintegrate, separate and arc.

(V2:272-73)

On June 8, 1998, almost six years after the accident, the case proceeded to a jury trial. (V12:T1) Much of the four-year trial delay was due to the Stallings' inability to secure an expert to testify that the terminator was defective. (V7:1451-55) During trial, the Stallings elicited opinion testimony from their most recent expert, Albert Darlington, a former TECO employee and part-time consultant in electrical engineering. (V13:T239-T351) Darlington testified that, under his theory, galvanic corrosion caused the terminator to notch and separate. (V13:T327) Darlington then opined that, if the terminator rain cap had been designed differently, galvanic corrosion would not have caused the terminated to notch and separate. (V13:T328)

Both before and during trial, Amerace objected to Darlington's testimony. Amerace argued, in part, that Darlington was unable to provide expert evidence under section

90.702, Florida Statutes, because Darlington admitted his lack of expertise on pertinent matters. Darlington admitted that his opinion was based upon a science in which he had no expertise:

- Q: [Counsel for Amerace] And the opinions that you're prepared to express today do not involve electricity; is that correct?
- A: [Darlington] That is correct.
- Q: The opinions you plan to express today involve chemistry, do they not?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: You do not claim to be an expert in chemistry, do you?

\* \* \*

- A: I do not claim to be an expert in chemistry.
- Q: The opinions that you plan to express today also involve metallurgy, specifically as it may apply to dissimilar metals; is that correct?
- A: The interaction of dissimilar metals in the presence of a liquid, yes.

\* \* \*

- Q: You do not claim to be a metallurgist, do you?
- A: I am not.

\* \* \*

- Q: Your opinion is based purely on a metallurgical or chemical issue?
- A: That is correct.

- Q: You are not an expert in corrosion, are you?
- A: No, sir.
- Q: You are not an expert in galvanic corrosion, are you?
- A: No, sir.

(V13:T298-T305) Despite these admissions, the trial court qualified Darlington as an expert to theorize that the terminator was defectively designed because it allowed galvanic corrosion to occur and create a notch. (V13:T326) No other witness opined that the design of the rain cap rendered the terminator defective. (V2:369, 392; V15:T657-58, T662) Other experts testified that overvoltage, not galvanic corrosion, caused any notching. (V2:369; V15:T657-58)

In addition to his lack of metallurgy and chemistry expertise, Darlington admitted that he was not qualified to design terminators. (V13:T342) Darlington did not know whether the rain cap could be designed, as he said it should have been designed, to avoid galvanic corrosion; he merely assumed that it could be. (V13:T342) In fact, Darlington admitted:

- Q: Sir, have you ever tested what effect extending the rain cap would have on the electrical stresses that this terminator is designed to manage?
- A: I have not done such test [sic]. I've already testified I have no knowledge of the design of terminators.

- Q: So it's fair to say you don't know if you can extend the rain cap or not from an electrical perspective; is that right?
- A: That is correct.

(V13:T342)

\* \* \*

BY MR FRASER [Counsel for the Stallings]:

- Q: Is there any reason why the rain cap can't be extended to cover the entire exposed metal -- the aluminum on the bottom and then the copper as well?
- A: Well, as already pointed out, I'm not an expert in the design of terminators, but it doesn't appear to me that it would be a very difficult job to extend the rain cap to include the total amount of aluminum.

(V13:T330) After admitting to his lack of terminator design expertise, Darlington's theory about design alternatives was stricken by the trial court on Amerace's motion. (V14:T33) The Stallings presented no other expert testimony to prove a design defect.

Even if the rain cap had been designed as Darlington urged, he did not know whether this design would have prevented notching because Darlington did not conduct any experiments using a differently designed rain cap. (V13:T253-54) Darlington explained that to do an experiment that would demonstrate his theory on the cause of the problem would take at least five

years and "we didn't have that much time." (V13:T254) Darlington then admitted:

- Q: You have performed no test to prove your theory; is that right?
- A: That is correct.
- Q: In fact, you have not tested any of the opinions that you are prepared to give today; is that correct?
- A: That is correct.
- Q: You have not published any of your opinions in peer review journals, have you?
- A: I have not.
- Q: You do not know whether your opinions are generally accepted by the scientific community pertaining to chemistry and metallurgy; is that correct?
- A: As far as scientific community, that's correct.

(V13:T300-01) Rather than perform an experiment to prove his theory, Darlington assumed that galvanic corrosion created a notch. (V13:T330, T343) Amerace objected to Darlington's testimony on the grounds that Darlington's theory did not satisfy the standards set forth in <u>Frye v. United States</u>, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), because Darlington failed to test his theory, as required by <u>Frye</u>. (V13:T315) The trial court overruled this objection. (V13:T326)

After the jury rendered a verdict for the Stallings, Amerace moved for judgment in accordance with its earlier motion for directed verdict and, alternatively, for a new trial. (V10:2022-31) With the exception of a remittitur not relevant here, the trial court denied both motions. (V11:2216) The trial court then entered a judgment in favor of the Stallings. (V11:2217) In an amended judgment, the trial court denied the Stallings prejudgment interest from the date of the verdict. (V11:2220-21)

Amerace appealed the final judgment to the Second District Court of Appeal. (V11:2231-33) Amerace challenged the jury verdict because it was premised upon inadmissible expert testimony. (2d DCA Initial Br., at 26-33) The Stallings, citing a newly issued opinion from the Fourth District, countered that Darlington's theory was admissible as "pure opinion" evidence. According to the Stallings:

> Pure opinion testimony is based solely on the expert's training and experience, not [studies and tests] .

(2d DCA Answer Br., at 26) The Stallings did not elaborate what experience or training provided Darlington with the basis for his "pure opinion." Amerace responded that Darlington never testified that his theory was based upon his experience at TECO. (2d DCA Reply Br., at 14) Nonetheless, the Second District, presumably accepting the Stallings' pure opinion argument,

affirmed the jury verdict. <u>See Amerace Corp. v. Stallings</u>, 753 So. 2d 592 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000).

The Stallings cross-appealed the final judgment to the extent that the trial court denied an award of pre-judgment from the date of the jury verdict. <u>See id.</u> at 592. The Second District held that the trial court should have allowed pre-judgment interest to accrue from the date of the jury verdict, reversing the final judgment to that limited extent. <u>See id.</u> at 593. Amerace sought review in this Court based on the conflict among the district courts of appeal on the pre-judgment interest issue. (Petitioner's Jurisdictional Br., at 5-9) This Court accepted jurisdiction. <u>See Amerace Corp. v. Stallings</u>, <u>So.</u> 2d <u>(Fla. Nov. 13, 2000) (table).<sup>3</sup></u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Having accepted jurisdiction over this case, this Court has jurisdiction over all issues on appeal. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Leisure</u> <u>Resorts, Inc. v. Frank J. Rooney, Inc.</u>, 654 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1995) (having accepted jurisdiction over a question certified to be of great public importance, the court may review the district court's decision for any error); <u>Jacobson v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 1282, 1285 (Fla. 1985) (having accepted jurisdiction because of facial conflict between two decisions from district courts of appeal, the court may dispose of the case on grounds other than the conflict grounds).

## POINTS ON APPEAL

## I.

WHETHER A PARTY MAY RELY UPON PURE OPINION TESTIMONY TO PROVE HIS OR HER CASE WHEN THE WITNESS PRESENTING THE PURE OPINION HAS NO PERSONAL EXPERIENCE OR TRAINING TO SUPPORT THE PROFFERED OPINION.

## II.

WHETHER PRE-JUDGMENT INTEREST SHOULD ACCRUE FROM THE DATE OF A JURY VERDICT, EVEN THOUGH IT IS THE SUBSEQUENTLY ENTERED JUDGMENT, AND NOT THE VERDICT ITSELF, THAT LEGALLY ENTITLES A PARTY TO COLLECT THE AWARD.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court recently explained that pure opinion testimony does not have to satisfy the <u>Frye</u> test. However, lower courts have inconsistently applied this holding, presumably due to a misunderstanding as to what constitutes "pure opinion" testimony. This case therefore presents a unique opportunity for this Court more clearly to define "pure opinion."

The general rule is that pure opinion testimony is testimony based upon a witness's "experience and training." An expert witness, during years of experience in a particular field, may encounter proof to support an opinion now espoused. For instance, if a doctor routinely observes that patients who had chemicals fall into their eyes often developed cataracts, the doctor's years of empirical observations might help a jury resolve whether the spill of a chemical into the eye caused cataracts in a particular case. Encountering the same type of result in the same environment over a period of time provides empirical indicia of reliability, which, in turn, ensures the reliability of the jury verdict.

This definition of "pure opinion" testimony carries an important corollary: If, in his or her years of experience, the witness has **not** encountered empirical validation of the theory now espoused, the indicia of reliability vanishes.

Part of the confusion courts have in applying this analysis appears to originate in the meaning of "experience or training." This Court has expressly held that "experience or training" means that the opinion should be personally developed through clinical experience. Lower courts have apparently loosened this Court's definition of "experience or training" to mean merely that the expert is involvement in the field upon which his Under this looser definition, an expert's opinion is based. "opinions" need not be premised upon actual observations of the subject phenomena. Rather, the proffered expert could simply state years of experience and training generally in the field provide the basis for opinion testimony. The obvious difficulty with this scenario lies in the lack of any actual observations or real science to provide the mandated indicia of reliability justifying the use of expert testimony in the first place.

This overly loose definition of "pure opinion" had drastic consequences in this case. Darlington, a TECO worker, **never** testified that, in all his years of experience, he observed that galvanic corrosion caused terminators to notch. Likewise, he **never** testified that, if the terminator had been differently designed, his years of experience showed that galvanic corrosion would not have occurred. Despite his lack of expertise designing terminators, Darlington was allowed to theorize that, in his opinion, notching on the terminator was caused by

galvanic corrosion, which was, in turn, caused by a design defect. At bottom, then, the trial court permitted a witness to testify about a theory which he had never developed through clinical experience. The Second District erred when it implicitly concluded that Darlington's opinion was admissible as pure opinion.

The reliability of expert testimony is crucial to the underpinning of our judicial system. As a matter of public policy, this Court should clarify what does and -- perhaps more importantly -- what does **not** constitute acceptable pure opinion evidence. Amerace respectfully requests this Court to reiterate its definition of pure opinion evidence to require the witness propounding a theory to actually observe or encounter proof of the proposed theory. In so doing, this Court will ensure that trial judges fulfill their gatekeeper obligations, and that jury verdicts are premised upon reliable evidence.

This Court should also reverse the Second District's opinion to the extent that it concluded that the Stallings were entitled to pre-judgment interest from the date of the jury verdict. The purpose of **all** interest is to compensate an individual for the lost use of money or other property for some period of time. Thus, the right to interest depends on the idea that the individual had a right to the money or property in the first place. In a contractual setting, that right is conferred by the

contract itself. Thus, pre-judgment interest in a breach of contract case compensates the non-breaching party for lost use beginning on the date of the breach.

A jury verdict, on the other hand, is not a legally enforceable obligation. Instead, it is the judgment that gives a plaintiff a right to the award. Thus, interest on a judgment should compensate a plaintiff for lost use beginning on the date of the judgment. The Second and Fourth Districts have erroneously reached a contrary conclusion.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I.

A PARTY MAY NOT RELY UPON PURE OPINION TESTIMONY TO PROVE HIS CASE WHEN THE WITNESS PRESENTING THE PURE OPINION HAS NO PERSONAL EXPERIENCE OR TRAINING THAT PROVES THE PROFFERED OPINION.

The Stallings' belated reliance upon pure opinion testimony to support their novel theory in the Second District is flawed. Darlington's testimony simply was not proper pure opinion testimony.

As an initial matter, it is important to recall that pure opinion testimony is an **exception** to the <u>Frye</u> standard for the admissibility of new theories. It presupposes a qualified expert whose theory is premised, not upon peer review and generally accepted testing methods, but rather upon personal observation and clinical experience.

Authority from this Court recognizes pure opinion as the exception to <u>Frye</u>. In <u>Flanagan v. State</u>, 625 So. 2d 827 (Fla. 1993), this Court recognized that pure opinion testimony does not have to meet <u>Frye</u> because that type of testimony is based on the expert's personal experience and training. Later, in <u>Hadden v. State</u>, 690 So. 2d 573 (Fla. 1997), this Court reiterated its holding in <u>Flanagan</u>:

We did point out in <u>Flanagan</u> that the <u>Frye</u> standard for admissibility of scientific evidence is not applicable to an expert's

pure opinion testimony which is based solely on the expert's training and experience. <u>See</u> 625 So. 2d at 828. While an expert's pure opinion testimony comes cloaked with the expert's credibility, the jury can evaluate this testimony in the same way that it evaluates other opinion or factual testimony. Id.

<u>Id.</u> at 579-80. Significantly, this Court then defined pure opinion evidence:

When determining the admissibility of this kind of expert-opinion testimony which is personally developed through clinical experience, the trial court must determine admissibility on the qualifications of the expert and the applicable provisions of the evidence code. We differentiate pure opinion testimony based upon clinical from profile experience and syndrome evidence because profile and syndrome evidence rely on conclusions based upon studies and tests.

<u>Id.</u> at 580 (emphasis added). Thus, under this Court's <u>Hadden</u> definition, the witness providing the theory must have "personally developed" this theory through "clinical experience."

Clinical experience necessarily means something more than that the witness is "experienced" in a particular area. Clinical experience, as used by this Court in <u>Hadden</u> court, implies that the phenomena about which the witness is about to testify is something routinely encountered by the proffered expert. <u>Cf.</u> Random House College Dictionary 252 (rev. ed. 1980) (defining "clinical," in part, as "based on actual observation

. . . rather than artificial experimentation or theory"). The routineness lends reliability and trustworthiness to the opinion.

Although this Court defined pure opinion evidence to be that which is personally developed through clinical experience, the application of this standard has been anything but clear in the district courts.<sup>4</sup> In <u>Irving v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d 1021 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), the First District reiterated that <u>Hadden</u> requires an examination of whether expert testimony is pure opinion testimony or scientific expert testimony. The court then recognized that, although the expert carefully testified that his opinion was based upon his experience, the reviewing court must look at the expert's entire testimony to determine whether the testimony constituted pure opinion. <u>See id.</u> at 1022-23. <u>Irving</u> does not discuss, however, what this "experience" must entail.

<u>Florida Power & Light Co. v. Tursi</u>, 729 So. 2d 995 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), does not clearly define pure opinion, although the court's analysis can be gleaned from the opinion. In <u>Tursi</u>, an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In <u>Berry v. CSX Transportation, Inc.</u>, 709 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 718 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 1998), the First District mentioned that pure opinion testimony is testimony which is personally developed through clinical experience, but did not apply this specific rule to the facts of this case, instead focusing upon whether the plaintiffs' expert opinion testimony had to be <u>Frye</u> tested.

ophthalmologist testified that a drop of PCB which accidentally dripped into the plaintiff's eye caused a cataract to form. See id. at 996. The defendant argued that the ophthalmologist's testimony did not meet the Frye standard for admissibility. See The Fourth District rejected that contention because the id. testimony constituted pure opinion. See id. at 997. The ophthalmologist had treated thousands of cataract patients. See id. at 996. The Fourth District noted that the doctor's opinion did not rely upon a scientific principle or test. See id. at 997. Rather, citing Flanagan, the Fourth District noted that pure opinion testimony was an exception to Frye, based upon an expert's personal experience and training. See id.

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