# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

	:			
:				
:				
:				
:				
:				
:				
:				
:		CASE	NO.	SC00-565
:				
:				
	:			
:				
:				
_:				
			: : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :	: : : : : : : : : : :

REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_

\_

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS GARY E. STALLINGS AND VERA J. STALLINGS

> ROBERT FRASER, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 218529 DANIEL F. PILKA, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 442021 PILKA & ASSOCIATES, P.A. Post Office Box 3470

Brandon, Florida 33509-3470 (813) 653-3800 Attorneys for Respondents

#### PREFATORY STATEMENT

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

involved, though, the abuse of discretion standard no longer governs and the party opposing introduction of the opinion is entitled to a *de novo* review. The review determines whether the novel scientific principle meets the standard of *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

To have a trial court determine whether testimony regarding a novel scientific principle should be admitted into evidence, the opponent must make an objection that the evidence offered is The trial court below provided AMERACE with wide unreliable. latitude in attacking the opinion of Mr. Albert Darlington, an expert retained by the STALLINGS. AMERACE, however, attacked only Mr. Darlington's expertise, not whether galvanic corrosion scientific principle. Therefore, posed a novel AMERACE effectively waived its objection to Mr. Darlington's testimony its entitlement to de novo review. As a consequence, Mr. and Darlington's testimony should be evaluated under the abuse of discretion standard.

Contrary to AMERACE'S contention, nothing in Frye requires Mr. Darlington to test his theory. He testified without contradiction that galvanic corrosion is generally recognized in the scientific community. In addition, AMERACE could not estimate the age of the terminator which separated and injured Mr. Stallings. Since AMERACE began manufacturing the terminator

in issue in 1977 and the accident occurred in 1992, the terminator could have been in place for as many as 15 years. Obviously, Mr. Darlington did not have 15 years between the accident in 1992 and the trial in 1998 to test his theory.

In any event, AMERACE incorrectly argues that Mr. Darlington's opinion should have been *Frye*-tested. Actually, the principle, not the opinion, should be subject to *Frye* when a novel scientific principle is involved.

Under the abuse of discretion standard, Mr. Darlington's testimony should be evaluated as a "pure opinion" since it rested on his long and broad experience at TECO. Indeed, Mr. Darlington's reasoning differed not at all with the testimony introduced in *Florida Power & Light Co. v. Tursi*, 729 So.2d 995 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999).

Even if Mr. Darlington's testimony was admitted improperly at trial, the harmless error doctrine preserves the result in the STALLINGS' favor. This is particularly true since abundant evidence in addition to Mr. Darlington's opinion supported and justified the jury's verdict.

Three unrebutted sets of facts support the verdict in addition to Mr. Darlington's testimony. First, the allegations of the Amended Complaint and the STALLINGS' theory at trial consisted of allegations that the terminator was defective

because it permitted uncovered aluminum to be exposed to the elements. Second, the STALLINGS introduced the testimony of Mr. Manfred Seuss, a metallurgist, in support of their theory to show that high transient currents, such as lightning, could have caused the ultimate separation on the uncovered portion of the terminator. Third, the theories provided by all of the experts testifying in the case supported the inference that leaving the aluminum uncovered constituted a defect.

Based on the evidence as a whole, this Court should not remand with instruction to enter judgment in favor of AMERACE. The evidence as a whole, including the theory propounded by AMERACE'S experts, supports the defect as a cause of the accident.

Indeed, AMERACE as much as embraced the theory propounded by Mr. Seuss. Mr. Seuss opined that high transient currents coupled with corrosion on the exposed aluminum caused the terminator to melt, notch and separate. He also noted that exposed copper resisted corrosion better than did aluminum, transmitted electricity at least as well and melted at a temperature 50 percent higher than aluminum. AMERACE introduced two terminators manufactured by General Electric which used copper in their exposed portions and did not notch even though they had been exposed to high transient currents. Finally, Mr.

Seuss testified that the absence of tin-plating on the aluminum made corrosion more likely in Tampa's climate.

AMERACE'S experts both essentially testified that lightning, not galvanic corrosion, caused the ultimate separation of the terminator. Since an electrical connector such as a terminator was designed to sit atop a power pole, the foreseeability of its being exposed to lightning does not appear remote. Thus, a reasonable jury could infer that leaving the terminator exposed to lightning caused the accident.

Finally, the STALLINGS relied on the inference provided by *Cassisi v. The Maytag Co.*, 396 So.2d 1140 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1981) in opposition to AMERACE'S various motions before and during trial. *Dicta* in *Cassisi* suggests that its holding does not apply to design defects. AMERACE never raised this argument in the trial court and it should be foreclosed from doing so at this point. The *Cassisi* 

inference alone establishes a *prima facie* case for the STALLINGS.

This Court granted conflict certiorari review only on the question of whether the STALLINGS should have been awarded interest between the date of the verdict and the date of the final judgment. The trial court denied "prejudgment interest", but the court of appeal reversed and ordered it.

In doing so, the court of appeal followed Palm Beach School Board v. Montgomery, 641 So.2d 183 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1994). This issue presents a pure question of law for the Court to resolve. Essentially, the STALLINGS alleged that they are entitled to interest on the verdict, which is not true prejudgment interest, since the verdict liquidated their entitlement even though it was reduced due to TECO's negligence and an excessive award for medical bills. No good reason appears for the entitlement awarded by the jury to lie fallow while the trial court considered AMERACE'S post- trial motions. The court of appeal below merely allocated the entitlement to the growth of the money awarded in the verdict to the STALLINGS rather than permit AMERACE to retain it. Contrary to the suggestion in the brief of the Florida Defense Lawyers' Association, nothing about this allocation appears punitive.

Finally, AMERACE'S argument that §55.03, Fla. Stats. (1999) does not permit the award of interest in these circumstances rings hollow. The statute does not expressly or impliedly purport to govern interest on verdicts. Therefore, it does not control this issue.

For the foregoing reasons, then, the Court should affirm the decision of the court of appeal below.

### ARGUMENT

- I. THE COURTS BELOW CORRECTLY EVALUATED MR. DARLINGTON'S TESTIMONY.
  - a. The Standard of Review Differs Depending Upon Whether a 'Novel Scientific Principle' is Involved.

Generally, a trial court will be afforded broad discretion in determining the topic upon which an expert may testify in any given trial. A trial judge's decision with respect to an expert's testimony will be disregarded only if its broad discretion is abused. Angrand v. Key, 657 So.2d 1146, 1148 (Fla. 1995). For example, a medical examiner can testify regarding the distance a gun must be fired to leave "stippling" or "soot" on a victim with a proper showing of training and experience. Burns v. State, 609 So.2d 600, 603-604 (Fla. 1992).

When a novel scientific principle becomes involved the abuse of discretion standard no longer governs. Instead, the party opposing introduction of the opinion is entitled to a *de novo* review. In this instance the question of whether the novel scientific principle meets the standards of *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013, 1014 (D.C. Cir. 1923) becomes a matter of law. *Hadden v. State*, 690 So.2d 573, 579 (Fla. 1997).

# b. AMERACE Did Not Properly Raise its Entitlement to Review Under Frye.

The trial judge permitted AMERACE wide latitude in evaluating whether Mr. Darlington's testimony should be

admitted. (Vol. 13: 239-350) AMERACE failed, however, to raise its entitlement to a *Frye* hearing as required by *Hadden, supra*, 690 So.2d at 580. Accordingly, the only question properly posed to the court of appeal turned on whether the trial court abused its discretion in permitting Mr. Darlington to testify.

Hadden, supra,690 So.2d at 580, held that a Frye determination must be made "only upon proper objection that the novel scientific evidence offered is unreliable..." During extensive voir dire, proffers and predicates, AMERACE only attacked Mr. Darlington's expertise. (See e.g., Vol. 13: 295) After an extensive evidentiary foundation for his opinion, the trial court properly found Mr. Darlington qualified. (Vol. 13: 297, 326) AMERACE never argued that a novel scientific theory was involved. (Vol. 13: 239-350)

As the Court held in *Hadden*, the absence of a *Frye* objection required the trial court to rule only on the relevance of Mr. Darlington's testimony. *Id.* [citing] *Glendening v. State*, 536 So.2d 212 (Fla. 1988), *cert. denied* 492 U.S. 907 (1989), *Toro v. State*, 642 So.2d 78 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1994). In short, AMERACE failed to present the court of appeal or this Court with the "specific contention asserted as the legal ground for objection, exception, or motion below." *Id.* [citing] *Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)

To the extent, then, that AMERACE complains of the trial court's failure to provide a review under *Frye*, its failure to perfect the record forecloses relief on this point. Even if it had perfected the record, *Frye* provides no basis of relief for AMERACE.

Frye, supra, 293 F. at 1014, an oft-quoted but apparently seldom-read decision, simply requires that a scientific principle

> must be sufficiently established to have gained general acceptance in the particular field in which it belongs.

A copy of Frye is included in the STALLINGS' Appendix.

Contrary to AMERACE'S initial brief, at 6, nothing in Frye required Mr. Darlington to test his theory. Besides, time did not permit Mr. Darlington to test his theory. AMERACE began manufacturing the terminator model in issue in 1977. AMERACE could not estimate the age of the one responsible for Mr. Stallings' injuries. (Vol. 14: 414) Accordingly, it could have been exposed to the elements for 15 years before the accident in 1992. Obviously, 15 years could not be simulated between 1992 and the trial in 1998.

Indeed, the seminal question with respect to *Frye* involves whether galvanic corrosion constitutes a novel scientific principle. Mr. Darlington testified without contradiction that

galvanic corrosion is generally recognized in the scientific community. (Vol. 13: 253) Given the fact that galvanic corrosion provides the power for an item as commonplace as the household battery, Mr. Darlington's testimony regarding galvanic corrosion rings true. (Vol. 13: 250)

AMERACE also argues that Mr. Darlington's expert opinion testimony should have been *Frye*-tested since it did not constitute "pure opinion testimony." (AMERACE'S initial brief, 14-19) Actually, the principle should be *Frye*-tested when novel, not the expert's opinion. *Berry v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 709 So.2d 552, 567 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA, 1998), *rev. denied*, 718 So.2d 167 (1998).

For the foregoing reasons, then, *Frye* does not control this case.

# c. The Trial Court Properly Permitted Mr. Darlington's Testimony as a 'Pure Opinion.'

AMERACE focuses on the unrealistically narrow questions of whether Mr. Darlington could serve as an expert in metallurgy, chemistry and galvanic corrosion. Thus, it loses sight of the forest for the trees just as the appellant did in *Florida Power* & *Light Co. v. Tursi*, 729 So.2d 995, 997 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999).

In Hadden, supra, 690 So.2d at 579-580, the Court held that

the Frye standard for the admissibility of scientific evidence does not apply to an expert's pure opinion. Pure opinion testimony is based solely on the expert's training and experience, not studies and tests.

In Ramirez v. State, 542 So.2d 352, 355 (Fla. 1989), the Court gave several examples of what it considered novel scientific methods. The Court cited cases in which it found no proper predicate to establish expert testimony, including Ramos v. State, 496 So.2d 121 (Fla. 1986) (dog scent discrimination lineups), Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 894 (1986) (hypnotically recalled testimony), Delap v. State, 440 So.2d 1242 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 467 U.S. 1264 (1984) (polygraph test). Ramirez I and a later appeal, Ramirez v. State, 651 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 1995), both reversed the trial court's admitting evidence from the State's expert that the defendant's knife was the only one in the world that could have caused the wounds to the victim. Other novel scientific theories include Hadden, supra, 690 So.2d 573 (child sexual abuse accommodations syndrome) and Flanagan v. State, 625 So.2d 827 (Fla. 1993) (pedophile/child sex offender profile evidence).

A recent example of pure opinion testimony occurred in *Tursi, supra,* 729 So.2d 995. In *Tursi,* Florida Power & Light Co.

(FP&L) appealed a jury verdict in favor of a plaintiff, arguing that the trial court erroneously permitted a physician to give an opinion on causation. The physician diagnosed a cataract resulting from a toxin's dripping into the plaintiff's eye from an electrical transformer on an utility pole.

FP&L filed a motion for a hearing to test whether the ophthalmologist's opinion met the *Frye* standard. The physician testified that cataracts have many causes, including exposure to chemicals and other trauma. The physician ruled out some causes of cataracts on the basis that plaintiff had a cataract in only one eye. The court relied on *Flanagan*, *supra*, 625 So.2d at 828, finding the physician's testimony consisted of pure opinion and did not have to comply with *Frye*.

The same reasoning should apply to this case. AMERACE does not contest Mr. Darlington's credentials as an electrical engineer. His education, training and experience qualify him to render opinion testimony given his familiarity with TECO's distribution system, connectors and electrical arcs. Nor does AMERACE fault his investigation. It merely faults his ability to diagnose galvanic corrosion, a process he understood from college courses and from 37 years of working as an electrical engineer. Effectively, Mr. Darlington used the same sort of education and experience and the same sort of reasoning as those

employed by the physician in Tursi.

Finally, Mr. Darlington's inability to cure the terminator's defect provides no relief to AMERACE. (Vol. 13: 301) As an expert he had no obligation to design AMERACE'S product.

Accordingly, the trial court's admission of Mr. Darlington's pure opinion testimony should be affirmed.

# Even if Mr. Darlington's Testimony was Improperly Admitted, it Constituted Harmless Error Given the Other Evidence in the Record.

Even if the admission of Mr. Darlington's opinion regarding galvanic corrosion would somehow be considered error, no "miscarriage of justice" occurred given the overwhelming weight of the evidence in favor of Defendant's liability. §59.041, Fla. Stats. (1997). Any error, then, would be harmless.

The harmless error doctrine applies to expert testimony. In Andrews v. Tew, 512 So.2d 276, 279 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1987) rev. denied 519 So.2d 988 (1988) the court held that the admission of an accident reconstruction expert's testimony, even if erroneous, did not require reversal as it was merely cumulative of other evidence. In this case, Mr. Darlington's testimony could be considered cumulative of the other expert's opinions.

Therefore, Mr. Darlington's opinion, even if erroneously admitted, constituted cumulative and harmless evidence. See

also, *Carvajal v. Adams*, 405 So.2d 763 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1981), *rev. denied* 412 So.2d 464 (1982). If cumulative to properly admitted expert testimony, no undue prejudice could have resulted to AMERACE. *Cross v. Lakeview Center, Inc.*, 529 So.2d 307, 310 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1988).

The erroneous admission of expert testimony can also be harmless error if other sufficient evidence justifies the jury's reaching the conclusion supported by the opinion. *School Board of Broward County v. Surette*, 394 So.2d 147, 152 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1981) [citing cases], *pet. for rev. dismissed*, 399 So.2d 1146 (Fla. 1981). As will be discussed below, abundant evidence justified the jury's verdict.

Accordingly, the verdict and judgment below should be upheld since Mr. Darlington's testimony constituted harmless error if its admission was error at all.

# II. THE EVIDENCE, EVEN EXCLUSIVE OF MR. DARLINGTON'S OPINION, ESTABLISHED THE DEFECT NECESSARY TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S VERDICT.

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